





March 2024 Discussion Paper

> Fracking: an option for Germany? Opportunities, risks and uncertainties of fracking in unconventional reservoirs

German National Academy of Sciences Leopoldina acatech – National Academy of Science and Engineering Union of the German Academies of Sciences and Humanities



| www.acatech.de

Contents

Fracking in Germany: an option?	
1.	What is the natural gas potential in unconventional reservoirs in Germany?
2.	Can experiences with possible environmental risks of fracking from abroad be transferred to Germany?
3.	How significant is the risk of causing earthquakes through fracking?
4.	What are the risks of fracking for groundwater and surface water?
5.	How much water is used in fracking?
6.	How high are the methane emissions caused by fracking?9
7.	What impact would fracking in Germany have on climate protection?10
8.	Can fracking increase supply security in Germany?11
9.	How soon would fracking be possible in Germany under current legislation?
10.	Could the time to commission fracking wells be significantly shortened?
11.	Are there viable business models for fracking in Germany?13
Summary and conclusions15	
Literature	
Contributors	

Fracking in Germany: an option?

Should fracking contribute to the energy supply in Germany? This question seemed to be answered with "no" after intensive debates and the decision of the Bundestag in 2016 to ban fracking. Against the backdrop of Russia's war of aggression against Ukraine, however, it took on a new meaning. Russia has almost completely stopped supplying natural gas to the European Union in the wake of the war. As a result, the availability of natural gas has fallen, and prices have risen sharply, at least temporarily. Against this background and in view of the climate policy goals, natural gas consumption must be reduced anyway, and natural gas must be replaced by renewable energy sources.

However, as long as natural gas is needed as a bridging technology, politicians are called upon to diversify the procurement options for natural gas. In addition to the increased import of liquefied natural gas (LNG), could or should the domestic extraction of natural gas from unconventional reservoirs through fracking (hydraulic induced fracturing) contribute to this diversification? This could supplement the extraction of natural gas in Germany from conventional reservoirs, which currently provides around five percent of the natural gas used in Germany.¹

This paper discusses various issues relevant to a decision on whether fracking in unconventional reservoirs should be considered in Germany. In doing so, it considers technical, ecological, economic, social and overall systemic aspects. The statements made here are largely based on findings from a workshop conducted by the Academies' Project "Energy Systems of the Future" (ESYS)², on expert interviews and on an analysis of current literature.

¹ The domestic extraction of natural gas amounted to 44 TWh natural gas in 2022 [2]. Even with this low production volume, the conventional reservoirs in Germany will be exhausted in a few years. In 2022, around 847 TWh of natural gas were consumed in Germany (2021: 1,029 TWh).

² The workshop was held on November 2, 2022. The workshop participants were: Stephanie Dachsberger (acatech office), Dr. Berit Erlach (ESYS coordination office| acatech office), Prof. Dr.-Ing. Manfred Fischedick (ESYS Directorate | Wuppertal Institute), Dr. Dieter Franke (Federal Institute for Geosciences and Natural Resources), Prof. Dr. Hans-Georg Frede (University of Giessen), Jörn Gierds (ESYS coordination office | acatech office), Dr. Ulrich Glotzbach (acatech office), Matthias Hartung (Wintershall Dea), Dr. Gernot K. Kalkoffen (Exxon Mobil | acatech), Dr. Johanna Kemper (Wintershall Dea), Bernd Kirschbaum (Federal Environment Agency), Prof. Dr. Hans-Joachim Kümpel (acatech), Prof. Dr. Johanna Kemper (Wintershall Dea), Bernd Kirschbaum (Federal Environment Agency), Prof. Dr. Hans-Joachim Kümpel (acatech), Prof. Dr. Johanna Kemper (Wintershall Dea), Bernd Kirschbaum (Federal Environment Agency), Prof. Dr. Hans-Joachim Kümpel (acatech), Prof. Dr. Johanna Kemper (Wintershall Dea), Bernd Kirschbaum (Federal Environment Agency), Prof. Dr. Hans-Joachim Kümpel (acatech), Prof. Dr. Johanna Kemper (Wintershall Dea), Bernd Kirschbaum (Federal Environment Agency), Prof. Dr. Hans-Joachim Kümpel (acatech), Prof. Dr. Johanna Kemper (Wintershall Dea), Bernd Kirschbaum (Federal Environment Agency), Prof. Dr. Hans-Joachim Kümpel (acatech), Prof. Dr. Johanna Kemper (Wintershall Dea), Bernd Kirschbaum (Federal Environment Agency), Prof. Dr. Ortwin Renn (IASS Potsdam – Institute for Advanced Sustainability Studies), Prof. Dr. Michael Reinhardt (Trier University), Prof. Dr. Ortwin Renn (IASS Potsdam – Institute for Advanced Sustainability Studies), Prof. Dr. Dirk Uwe Sauer (ESYS Directorate | RWTH Aachen University), Frank Sailer (Foundation for Environmental Energy Law), David Schlund (EWI – Institute for Energy Economics at the University of Cologne), Prof Dr. dr hc Christoph M. Schmidt (RWI – Leibniz Institute for Economic Research | acatech), Dr. Cyril Stephanos (ESYS coordination office | acatech office), Prof. Dr.-Ing

What is fracking, and where is it used?

Fracking involves injecting a fluid ("fracking fluid") into a subsurface under high pressure. This creates fissures, which are kept open by additives used in the fluid, allowing natural gas in the rock layer to escape. Fracking is used in both conventional and unconventional reservoirs. These differ in their geological properties:

- **Conventional reservoirs** refer to reservoirs in which hydrocarbons have accumulated in permeable reservoir rocks. Natural gas can be extracted from them without the use of fracking. However, fracking is sometimes also used in conventional reservoirs to mantain economic production rates. Fracking in conventional reservoirs has been used for this purpose around three hundred times in Germany since the 1960s and is still not prohibited today. Compared to unconventional reservoirs, its use is less controversial in view of other methods (e.g. regarding the type and quantity of chemicals used).
- The concept of **unconventional reservoirs** is fuzzy and not used consistently. Unconventional reservoirs usually have very low permeability, so it is necessary to break up the rock and create fractures ("fracs") in order to extract gas. Fracking is, therefore, a prerequisite for extracting natural gas from unconventional reservoirs. For this purpose, a deep borehole is drilled into the gas-bearing sediment layers and continued by horizontal drilling (see Figure 1). The fracking fluid is pumped into the subsoil through the borehole. Because the rock layers are often shale, natural gas extracted in this way is often referred to as "shale gas".



In the following, this publication focuses exclusively on fracking in unconventional reservoirs.

1. What is the natural gas potential in unconventional reservoirs in Germany?

In order to classify the possible importance of extracting natural gas from unconventional reservoirs in Germany, the magnitude of the existing natural gas potential must first be clarified. However, there is no clear answer to this question: The Federal Institute for Geosciences and Natural Resources (BGR) estimates that **320 to 2,030 billion cubic metres of technically recoverable shale gas are present in Germany** at a depth of between 1,000 and 5,000 meters ([1] p. 86).³ These potentials are referred to as **resources** [1]. The largest reservoirs in Germany are located in Lower Saxony on the border with North Rhine-Westphalia (see Figure 2). Within the European Union, only France, Spain and Romania have larger shale gas resources than Germany.⁴

So far, there are no estimates as to what proportion of the natural gas resources could be economically produced given current technology and prices. In addition, there are other limiting framework conditions: For example, some resources are not eligible for extraction because they are located under cities or in nature reserves. The amount of natural gas that can actually be extracted is referred to as **reserves**. Dedicated investigations with exploration drilling would be necessary in order to analyse the reserves in Germany. These investigations have not yet been carried out for Germany [6]⁵, so only estimates are available thus far.

Experts estimate that around 5 to 10 billion cubic metres of natural gas could be extracted from unconventional reservoirs in Germany every year. This corresponds to around 6 to 12 percent of natural gas consumption in Germany, based on the year 2022.⁶ Production of this magnitude would require around 400 to 800 wells. These would be located on around 30 to 60 so-called cluster sites.⁷

³ If potentials between a depth of 500 m and 1,000 m are also taken into account, the amount of technically extractable shale gas in Germany increases to between 380 and 2,240 billion. m³ ([1] p. 86). However, with extraction at a depth interval of 500 to 1,000 m, the risk of adversely affecting the groundwater increases. It is therefore recommended to keep a distance of 1,000 m to aquifers when drilling fracking wells (cf. e.g. [3]). In the past, however, there have also been fracking wells in the USA at depths of less than 1,000 and 500 m [4]. Extraction from depths of more than 5,000 m would be technically possible but is costly and generally uneconomical [5].

⁴ About 6% of the global shale gas resources are located in Europe. The majority of resources are located in North America (24%), Australasia (22%) and Latin America (20%) ([1] p. 90).

⁵ According to the Federal Environment Ministry, neither the responsible federal states nor companies have shown any initiatives for test drilling in the past [6]. The Lower Saxony state government is currently ruling out test drilling [7].

^{6 1} billion m³ of natural gas corresponds to around 10 TWh of natural gas. Germany consumed around 847 TWh of gas in 2022 [2].

⁷ This range reflects the figures discussed at the ESYS workshop.



Figure 2: Overview of potential areas in Germany (Source: Digital Terrain Model: © GeoBasis-DE/BKG2015, data modified([1] p. 29))

2. Can experiences with possible environmental risks of fracking from abroad be transferred to Germany?

Germany and Europe have virtually no experience with fracking of unconventional reservoirs. However, for the assessment of environmental risks associated with fracking, we can draw on **extensive experience from abroad**⁸: Alone in the **USA**⁹, around two million wells were drilled by 2020. Significant environmental damage was sometimes incurred, particularly in the early days of the fracking boom. Many US states have subsequently introduced environmental standards for the process and have increased these over time, thereby reducing environmental risks.

Much of the environmental damage that occurred in the USA in the early years of the fracking boom could be avoided in **Germany**, according to the Expert Commission on Fracking ([8]). In Germany, strict environmental requirements apply in many areas, which apply to the fracking of unconventional reservoirs and would go beyond the international standard. In Germany, for example, there is a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)¹⁰ and requirements for Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) for fracking projects that do not apply in the USA, Canada and Australia ([10] p. 9 f.). Nevertheless, even when applying high environmental regulations, **residual risks** to the environment are not entirely unavoidable. This is especially true in Germany, given the dense settlement structure.

3. How significant is the risk of causing earthquakes through fracking?

In **Germany**, the risk of causing an earthquake from fracking is estimated to be **very low** ([8] p. 24 f.; [1] p. 173). To further reduce risks, the Expert Commission on Fracking recommends, among other things, a traffic light system based on detailed monitoring. This provides for seismological monitoring of areas where fracking is being carried out and, if seismicity is measured, for fracking measures to be reduced or stopped. However, it is impossible to avoid earthquake risks altogether, even when applying high standards. In recent years, earthquakes with significant damaging effects have occurred in individual cases in various areas of the world, which have been linked to fracking.¹¹ However, compared to the high number of fracking wells drilled **worldwide**, damaging earthquakes have only occurred in rare cases ([9] p. 152).

⁸ Fracking can only trigger earthquakes if stresses are already present in the subsoil. The fluids injected into the ground can reduce friction between the layers. Foreign geosystems with shale gas reservoirs (e.g. in the USA, Australia and Canada) are comparable to those in Germany. In Germany, however, higher tectonic stress can be assumed in certain areas, e.g. for the potential shale gas reservoirs in the Rhenish Massif ([8] p. 5). The main difference in large areas is a higher settlement intensity in shale gas reservoirs in Germany and Europe.

⁹ The United States is the world's largest producer of shale gas. In 2022, around 800 billion m³ of shale gas were extracted there. This corresponds to approx. 80% of US natural gas production [8]. Shale gas is also extracted to a lesser extent in other countries (particularly China, Canada and Argentina).

¹⁰ The Strategic Environmental Assessment is a regulation for the planning and pre-intervention investigation of a project and serves, among other things, to define exclusion areas when selecting a site.

¹¹ A fracking-induced earthquake in the Sichuan Basin, China, in February 2019 killed two people and injured 19 others. This earthquake was the first and, so far, only one induced by fracking that resulted in fatalities. Further earthquakes induced by fracking with considerable damaging effects have also been detected in Canada, Argentina and the USA ([8] p. 11 f.).

4. What are the risks of fracking for groundwater and surface water?

The Expert Commission on Fracking ([8] p. 22) estimates the risk of pollution of near-surface groundwater and surface waters through fracking of deep-lying (> 1,000 m) natural gas reservoirs to be **low**. So far, there is no evidence **worldwide** for the contamination of the near-surface groundwater by fracking fluids¹² or reservoir water¹³ ([10] p. 12), although the authors note that such a risk cannot be ruled out for all geosystems. On the other hand, the most significant negative impact on groundwater and surface water comes from the **handling of water-polluting substances at the surface** of the extraction site ([10] p. 87).

In order to minimise the risks for groundwater and surface waters, the Expert Commission recommends comprehensive **baseline monitoring**, which records the condition of the area prior to fracking drilling and enables monitoring activities during and after fracking. In addition, before fracking wells are drilled, it must be clarified how to deal with the potentially accumulating so-called **flowback**¹⁴, consisting of fracking fluids and reservoir water. This should be processed and reused as far as possible.

According to industry representatives at the ESYS workshop, between 30 and 70 percent of the liquids produced can be recycled and reused. In US practice, however, due to the high costs, only a very small proportion (less than one percent) of the liquids are treated and reused – the majority are injected into boreholes. Such deep injection is only permitted to a limited extent in Germany.¹⁵ Disposing of large quantities of extracted water could thus become an important decision-making criterion for fracking unconventional reservoirs in Germany ([10] p. 81).

Epidemiological studies, available especially from the USA, show associations between fracking and **health effects**, primarily through flow back (e.g. [11]; [12]) and air pollutants [13].¹⁶ However, the data available to date does not allow us to make reliable statements about the existence or non-existence of causal relationships ([14] p. 1007).¹⁷ Against this background, it is important to evaluate health hazards in the vicinity of fracking extraction sites from a human toxicological point of view.

5. How much water is used in fracking?

The water requirement for fracking can be up to 19,000 cubic metres per well ([10] p. 71; [15]; [16]; [17]).¹⁸ The exact consumption depends on the geosystem, the fracking method used and the number of fracs. The quantities of water required for fracking unconventional reservoirs usually account for only a very small proportion of regional water consumption. In the past, however, so-called water stress caused by fracking

¹² The fracking fluids are the sum of all liquids introduced during fracking. Fracking fluids are composed of water and so-called fracking additives. Such additives include: hydrochloric acid, which cleans the pipes and helps fracture the rock, and corrosion protection that protects the plant, equipment and drill string. Wollin et al. [14] note the high number of chemicals used, some of which have unexplained toxicity. In Germany, however, according to the Fracking Act (Fracking-Gesetz), no water-polluting additives may be used in fracking in unconventional reservoirs.

¹³ Reservoir water is groundwater that occurs in deep aquifers and contains a high concentration of dissolved salts and sometimes also natural radioactive isotopes.

¹⁴ Flowback refers to the fluids that escape superficially at the well surface during and up to about a month after fracking. The water that flows out of the well over the long term is referred to as extracted water and increasingly consists of reservoir water.

¹⁵ The injection of fracking fluid is not permitted in Germany. Only the recirculation of reservoir water is permitted to a limited extent ([8] p. 22). 16 A recent study by Harvard University [13] found that people living in the immediate vicinity of, or downwind from, extraction sites have a statistically significant increased risk of death (+ 2.5%). The results suggest that air pollutants emitted by extraction sites and carried by the wind contribute to increased mortality.

¹⁷ In particular, this is due to the fact that data are not available due to a lack of baseline monitoring [14].

¹⁸ This figure aligns with estimates by the International Association of Oil and Gas Producers. It estimates that between 10,000 and 20,000 m³ of water is required for a horizontal well in Europe [15]. Raimi [16], as well as Kondash and Vengosh [17] indicate the water consumption per unit of energy produced. According to this, the water consumption is between 6 and 23 litres per gigajoule or between about 20 and 80 litres per MWh. Water consumption occurs selectively during fracking, not over the entire extraction period.

occurred in individual (water-scarce) regions of the USA ([10] p. 71, [18]). Water stress occurs when twenty percent or more of the renewable water supply is used [19].

As climate change progresses, high water consumption is becoming more relevant: regionally, high water demand for fracking could exacerbate **water scarcity** in dry and drought conditions. As a rule, this would first affect ecosystems that depend on groundwater, such as wetlands, moors, marshes and forests. At the same time, the need for agricultural irrigation will increase in the future due to rising temperatures and more extended periods of drought, which will lead to growing competition for available groundwater. There is a need to research whether and to what extent fracking of unconventional reservoirs in **Germany** could exacerbate a potential water shortage.

6. How high are the methane emissions caused by fracking?

During the extraction and processing of natural gas, a proportion of the natural gas usually escapes into the atmosphere. Since natural gas (methane) is a potent greenhouse gas, the proportion of this methane emission is particularly relevant.¹⁹ Methane emissions from fracking in unconventional reservoirs are **of the same order of magnitude as those from natural gas extraction in conventional reservoirs** ([20] p. 32 ff.). This is because the vast majority of methane emissions (approx. 99 percent) in the natural gas value chain are not generated during exploration²⁰ but during extraction, processing, storage and transport as well as distribution. These process steps are almost exclusively independent of the reservoirs²¹, since, for example, the gas is processed in the same gas network in both extraction methods. More important for the level of methane emissions, on the other hand, is the age and maintenance status of the extraction plants ([21] p. 30).

International literature states widely differing values regarding methane emissions in the natural gas value chain. These range from 0.1 to 17 percent ([20] p. 11; [21]). Estimates of the expected methane emission rate from possible shale gas extraction in **Germany** also differ:

- A report commissioned by the Expert Commission on Fracking assumes that emission rates significantly lower than one percent can be expected for extraction from unconventional reservoirs provided the best available technology²² is used ([20] p. 5).
- The Expert Commission does not agree with the report's assessment and assumes that the methane emission rate in Germany would be around two to four percent ([8] p. 23).

The various data on methane emission rates can be attributed, in particular, to **inadequate measurement techniques**. Against this backdrop, the Expert Commission on Fracking advocates improved methane monitoring, which includes a combination of site-based measurements (bottom-up approach) and measurements by remote sensing, such as satellites and drones (top-down approach).

In the first 100 years after release, methane contributes about 25 to 34 times more to the greenhouse effect than carbon dioxide. In the first 20 years after release methane is about 84 to 86 times as strong as carbon dioxide [22]. Against this background, methane leakage is particularly relevant to climate change. In addition to the energy industry, methane emissions occur in particular in agriculture and waste management.
 The exploration process includes the so-called "hydrofracturing completion", which comprises the actual fracking process with the develop-

²⁰ The exploration process includes the so-called hydrofracturing completion , which ment of the well, including all associated technical equipment required [20].

²¹ A clear allocation to gas extraction from unconventional reservoirs can only be made for the well workover. However, this accounts for only 0.8% of extraction emissions (a total share of 58%) [20].

²² The best available technology should be used both in exploration and development of the reservoir as well as in extraction, processing and distribution in connection with the custody of wells and the context of monitoring ([20] p. 60). The use of low-emission compressors and valves could have a particularly high impact, as these components are responsible for a large proportion of emissions during extraction (ibid. p. 35).

7. What impact would fracking have on climate protection in Germany?

In order to be able to assess the effects of fracking in Germany on climate protection, **various effects** must be taken into account: On the one hand, shale gas extracted in Germany would have a **lower CO₂ emission factor than imported LNG** since domestic extraction and distribution does not require energy for liquefaction, regasification and shipping of LNG.²³ In addition, the methane emissions from the extraction and distribution of natural gas in Germany could be lower than in other countries due to **comparatively high environmental standards**.

On the other hand, given the high global demand, it can be assumed that additional natural gas extracted in Germany would **not replace previously imported quantities on the global market** but would be offered in addition to these. The increased supply could lead to a slight drop in natural gas prices on the global market. However, given the relatively small quantities in relation to global supply (5 to 10 billion cubic metres of gas extracted in Germany corresponds to around 0.125 to 0.25 percent of global natural gas extraction in 2021), this effect is likely to be limited.

Should the regional price of natural gas in Germany and Europe fall due to fracking in Germany, this could lead to **coal being replaced more quickly** by natural gas. That could reduce greenhouse gas emissions, as burning natural gas produces less CO₂ than burning coal.

²³ According to BGR, the total energy consumption for LNG (liquefaction, transport and regasification) is between 7.5% and 19% of the energy supplied ([21] p. 34 ff.).

8. Can fracking increase the security of supply in Germany?

After a significant increase in natural gas prices in 2022, the situation on the global market has eased again. However, bottlenecks in the natural gas supply could still occur in the coming winters [23]. In addition to the reduced supply of natural gas on the global market, increasing demand for LNG from China could also exacerbate the possible bottleneck situation in Europe in the coming months [24].²⁴ In the medium and long term, on the other hand, the risk of a gas shortage in the European Union and Germany is expected to decrease significantly. Climate protection measures in Germany and Europe, such as increasing efficiency and expanding renewable energies, will result in the demand for natural gas falling continuously in the coming years.

Estimates of the Copernicus project Ariadne ([25] p. 26) assume that gas demand in Germany could fall to around 600 terawatt hours by 2025 (down 29 percent compared to 2022) and to 400 to 500 terawatt hours by 2030 (down 41 to 53 percent compared to 2022).²⁵ After 2030, if the climate neutrality target is implemented by 2045, an additional rapid decline in natural gas demand is to be expected [26].²⁶ At the same time, calculations show that the supply of LNG on the global market could increase rapidly from 2026 [27].²⁷

In principle, the following applies: as long as natural gas is used in Germany, domestic fracking would strengthen the resilience of Germany's natural gas supply, as higher national extraction would reduce dependence on imports from other countries. In order to assess the contribution of fracking to the security of supply, however, it is also essential to consider the time frame in which fracking from unconventional reservoirs could be implemented in Germany.

How soon would fracking be possible in Germany under current legislation? 9.

Fracking of unconventional reservoirs is prohibited by law in Germany.²⁸ In order to extract domestic shale gas, the German Bundestag would have to lift this ban - and a broad social and political debate would be needed beforehand. Following the repeal of the fracking law, the general mining and water law regulations would apply. While mining law already has a differentiated regulatory framework for site construction, drilling, production operations and dismantling (e.g. through ABBergV, EinwirkungsBergV and the deep drilling ordinances of the federal states), in water law, the addition of fracking-specific regulations to the existing legal framework should be examined, for example in order to introduce water protection and precautionary standards with regard to water-polluting substances.²⁹ In addition, European law would have to be considered when designing the legal framework for fracking. However, according to statements by legal experts at the ESYS workshop, there are no fundamental concerns about fracking under EU law.

²⁴ According to the International Energy Agency (IEA) ([24] p. 3), the European Union will have to import an additional 40 billion m³ of LNG by the end of 2023 compared to the previous year. However, the IEA expects that this year only 20 billion m3 of additional LNG will be offered on the global market. In addition, Chinese demand for LNG is expected to increase sharply compared to 2022, which could lead to additional competition for the scarce LNG supply.

²⁵ Other studies point to a smaller decline by 2030 (e. g. dena ([28] p. 21): 711 TWh).

²⁶ Meta-studies, e.g. Kopp et al. ([26]) show that a sharper fall in natural gas demand is expected from the point at which greenhouse gas emissions fall by more than 70% compared to 1990. According to the Climate Protection Act (Klimaschutzgesetz), this is expected to happen in Germany in the early 2030s. After all, according to the German Climate Protection Act, the aim is to reduce GHG emissions by 65% by 2030, by 88% by 2040 and by 100% by 2045 compared to 1990.

According to projections by the Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis (IEEFA) ([27]), LNG will remain a scarce and expensive commodity, especially until 2025. Long-term supply contracts with delivery before 2026 are sold out. However, according to the research institute, the supply of LNG will increase rapidly from 2025.
Prohibition according to section 13 a of the Water Resources Act (Wasserhaushaltsgesetz). Exceptions are up to four test wells which have not

vet been drilled.

²⁹ According to the current legal situation, handling water-polluting substances is partly subject to the same requirements as agricultural operations.

According to industry representatives, it would take **5 to 9 years** before extraction can start in the current administrative procedure. Once the ban on fracking is lifted, natural gas-extracting companies would be able to initiate the administrative procedures necessary to put the drilling site into operation. Figure 3 illustrates these steps as an example, consisting of the permit process, preparation of the operating plans for the exploration, including the environmental impact assessment (EIA), production permit, planning approval process with subsequent renewed EIA as well as the simultaneous approval procedure under water law, the procurement of the plants and the technical construction of the production site. A prerequisite would be a rapid build-up of the required expertise in the companies. Appeal procedures could result in a further delay of several years.



Figure 3: Provides an exemplary illustration of the administrative procedures for a fracking well with additional steps after estimating "minimum duration" and "maximum duration". The timelines reflect the results of the workshop conducted by ESYS. Source: own figure. If an exploration well in an unconventional reservoir is successful, it can be used directly for extraction and extract the majority of the natural gas available there within 2 to 3 years.³⁰ Shale gas extraction can be scaled up or down at short notice.

10. Could the time it takes to commission fracking wells be significantly reduced?

According to estimates by industry representatives at the ESYS workshop, the period from permit procedures to the start of extraction in a well could be reduced to **3 to 4 years**.³¹ Such a reduction of the administrative procedure could be based on the rapid construction of the LNG terminals within the framework of the LNG Acceleration Act (LNG-Beschleunigungsgesetz), which significantly reduces the planning and approval processes. For this purpose, for example, the requirements for the upstream environmental assessments would have to be redesigned. It would be conceivable, for example, not to carry out any environmental impact assessments, including public participation, for fracking projects, at least in the exploration phase, but only to carry out a preliminary EIA assessment, as is already stipulated for smaller-scale extraction projects.³² At the same time, it would be conceivable to waive the requirement for a permit under water law for fracking projects.

However, to what extent changes to the EIA requirement would be possible under European law remains to be seen. In addition, experts at the ESYS workshop pointed out that shortening environmental assessments and restricting the possibilities for objection could reduce the acceptance of fracking, which is already being critically discussed. Industry representatives who participated in the ESYS workshop consider the potential to parallelise planning and approval steps to be low. For example, the construction of production facilities is only applied for after successful exploration. However, combining the environmental assessments for the exploration and extraction phase would be conceivable.

11. Are there viable business models for fracking in Germany?

It remains to be seen to what extent shale gas from Germany could be extracted at **competitive prices** (in the future).³³ The United States has a mature fracking industry, given the extensive fracking activity in recent years. This is lacking in Germany, which is why economies of scale are not to be expected, at least for the time being. The Energy Economics Institute of the University of Cologne (EWI) estimates that the extraction costs for fracking in Germany could be in a range between 26 and 43 euros per megawatt hour³⁴ ([30] p. 22).³⁵ Estimates of the future price of natural gas in Europe range between 25 and 66 euros per megawatt hour in 2026 and between 18 and 59 euros per megawatt hour in 2030 ([31] p. 3). Gas from

³⁰ In order to continue using a well, it can be partially re-fracked or diverted (diverting involves drilling in a different direction within the shale formation to develop additional gas in neighbouring areas). New wells are usually required within the cluster sites to ensure consistently high gas extraction over several years.

³¹ The assessment is consistent with statements by Charlotte Krawczyk, Chair of the Expert Commission on Fracking, who estimates the period at three years plus groundwater monitoring [8, 29].

³² Cf. section 1 No. 2.b of the Environmental Impact Assessment Test Ordinance [Mining UVP-V Bergbau]. An EIA preliminary assessment is planned if the expected daily extraction volume does not exceed 500,000 m³ of natural gas. A full environmental impact assessment, including public participation, would only be required if the preliminary assessment showed that the project could have significant adverse environmental effects. According to the law, an EIA preliminary check must be carried out within six weeks. As a rule, the period is around 3 to 6 months, according to estimates from the business community.

³³ The production costs of shale gas depend, in particular, on the productivity of the well and the well depth. It can also be assumed that the costs will increase with the degree of safety and environmental standards. However, experience from the United States shows that even in Colorado, where strict environmental regulations apply, there is a great deal of shale oil and shale gas extraction. This indicates that the additional costs caused by environmental regulations are not prohibitively high.

³⁴ European Monetary Union [EWI] data are based on Riedel et al. ([32]) and have been adjusted for inflation in consultation with the EMI for the current year.

³⁵ Additional price components such as transport or profit margin are not included in this figure and would lead to higher prices. Riedel et al. ([32] p. 297) also point out that their cost estimates for shale gas extraction in Europe do not take into account costs for environmental regulations.

fracking of unconventional reservoirs in Germany would probably only be competitive compared to imported LNG if the actual extraction costs were at the lower end of the estimated range.

In addition, it remains to be seen whether the establishment of a domestic fracking industry would be worthwhile from a business perspective, given the **limited remaining period** for natural gas extraction in Germany. According to the Expert Commission on Fracking ([8] p. 9), extraction from an unconventional reservoir is usually operated for 20 to 30 years due to the high development costs.³⁶ However, depending on the achievable margins, the investments could also be profitable earlier, according to industry representatives at the ESYS workshop.³⁷

³⁶ This would require regular new drilling and fracking to maintain extraction in the reservoir.

³⁷ This depends in particular on the development costs. In the case of shale gas extraction in Lower Saxony, for example, the costs for connecting to the gas infrastructure could be low due to the proximity of Lower Saxony's shale gas reservoirs to existing gas pipelines, according to business representatives at the ESYS workshop.

Summary and conclusions

Can or should fracking in Germany contribute to the German energy mix? An evaluation of the facts shows that there are arguments for and against developing unconventional reservoirs in Germany, which in turn depend on various factors. A conclusive answer is not always possible.

Environmental risks induced by fracking, often cited as an <u>argument against fracking</u>, are **very low**, according to experts - although they cannot be ruled out. This concerns both the risk of earthquakes and the pollution of groundwater and surface waters. However, minimising risks requires strict environmental protection requirements and using the best available technology.

On the other hand, various arguments <u>that could advocate entering</u> into national shale gas extraction cannot be clearly assessed:

- Climate protection: There is no definitive answer as to how fracking in unconventional reservoirs would affect climate protection: The lower emissions due to higher environmental standards in Germany and the elimination of transport routes (including liquefaction and sea routes) for natural gas would have a positive impact compared to LNG imports. However, since natural gas extracted in Germany would also come onto the global market, the total amount of fossil natural gas would increase. This could initially have positive effects (particularly the substitution of coal), but in the medium and long term, it could also have adverse effects (additional consumption of fossil fuels).
- Security of supply: The analysis in this paper shows that national shale gas extraction will very likely make no contribution to the security of supply in the coming years, given the necessary lead times.

In the **long term**, additional national extraction could increase the security of supply in Germany and the European Union to a certain extent, as dependence on gas imports would decrease. However, it can be assumed that the global natural gas supply will increase in the coming years, and greater diversification of gas imports will become possible due to reduced infrastructure restrictions (e.g. through the expansion of LNG terminals). At the same time, the demand for natural gas in Germany and Europe is expected to decline significantly by 2030. Against this background, a diversification of natural gas procurement and, thus, an increase in supply security would also be possible via the world market.

• **Cost-effectiveness**: It is also difficult to assess whether it would be possible to extract shale gas nationally at competitive prices on the global market. This would probably only be the case if the extraction costs were at the lower end of the estimates and only small costs for additional environmental regulations were added. At the same time, domestically produced natural gas would be under increasing price pressure on the global market, with demand possibly falling in the medium and long term. It, therefore, remains uncertain to what extent companies would consider entering the market without state protection against the backdrop of these and the other uncertainties associated with fracking. Whether natural gas prices could be reduced by domestic shale gas extraction also remains to be seen.

Possible implementation horizon decisive

Fracking in Germany could contribute to security of supply. However, it is unclear **how quickly** the technology could be implemented. For companies to invest in the technology, they must expect a sufficiently long period of use. However, it is uncertain to what extent a quick entry can be achieved:

- According to experts, a period of at least 3 to 4 years could be expected, provided that the existing administrative procedure is accelerated and previously planned measures, such as environmental impact assessments, are shortened.
- In addition, there is a unknown period of time needed to lift the fracking ban and related **social and political discussions**.

Based on the necessary lead time and the requirements of the climate targets in Germany and the European Union, a **limited time window** for the extraction of shale gas in Germany can be expected. This could have a negative impact on investment by private companies. However, in order to provide this window of opportunity procedures would need to be shortened, objection deadlines would need to be limited, and a social and political agreement would need to be reached very quickly.

Literature

1 BGR 2016

Federal Institute for Geosciences and Natural Resources (BGR): Shale Oil and Shale Gas in Germany. Potential and Environmental aspects. [Ladage, S./Andruleit, H./Babies, H.-G./Bahr, A./Biermann, S./Blumenberg, M./Bönnemann, C./Burk-hart, B./Ceranna, L./Dohrmann, R./Erbacher, J./Franke, D./Gestermann, N./Helm, C./Himmelsbach, T./Houben, G./Illing, C./Kaufhold, S./Kosinowski, M./Kus, J./Li, G./Lutz, R./Ostertag-Henning, C./Pfunt, H. Pletsch, T./Schlömer, S./Stück, H. L./Taranczewski, J. T./Ufer, K./Zink, K.-G./. (Auth.)]. Department B1.3 - Geology of Energy Resources, Polar Geology, Hanover, 2016.

2 BNetzA 2023

Federal Network Agency: *Review: Gas Supply in 2022*, 2023. URL: https://www.bundesnetzagentur.de/DE/Gasversorgung/aktuelle_gasversorgung/Rueckblick/start.html [Status: 29.03.2023].

3 AMEC 2014

AMEC Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited: "Technical Support for Assessing the Need for a Risk Management Framework for Unconventional Gas Extraction". In: *European Commission DG Environment*. United Kingdom, 2014.

4 Jackson et al. 2015

Jackson R. B./Lowry E. R./Pickle A./Kang M./DiGiulio D./Zhao K.: "The Depths of Hydraulic Fracturing and Accompanying Water Use Across the United States". In: *Environmental Science* & Technology, 49 (15), 2015, p. 8969-8976. DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.5b01228.

5 BGR 2012

Federal Institute for Geosciences and Natural Resources (BGR): Estimation of the Natural Gas Potential from Dense Clay Rocks (Shale Gas) in Germany. [Andruleit, H./Bahr, A./Bönnemann, C./Erbacher, J./Franke, D./Gerling, J. P./Gestermann, N./Himmelsbach, T./Kosinowski, M./Krug, S./Pierau, R./Pletsch, T./Rogalla, U./Schlöme, S.], Specialist Area B1.3 – Geology of Energy Raw Materials, Polar Geology, Hanover, 2012.

6 ZDF 2022

ZDF: Fracking: What is missing are research drillings. 2022. URL: https://www.zdf.de/nachrichten/politik/gas-frackingniedersachsen-soeder-weil-100.html [Status: 30.03.2023].

7 LBEG Lower Saxony 2017

Lower Saxony State Office for Mining, Energy and Geology: *FAQ's* on *Fracking*. 2017 URL: https://www.lbeg.niedersachsen.de/aktuelles/neuigkeiten/faqs-zum-fracking-151623.html [Status: 30.03.2023].

8 Expert Commission on Fracking 2021

Expert Commission on Fracking: Report: Expert Commission on Fracking. [Busse, L./Ehling, B.-C./Himmelsbach, T./Krawczyk, C./Rosenbaum, S./Seidemann, A./Weiss, H./ (Auth.)], 2021.

9 Baisch et al. 2021

Expert Commission on Fracking: Expert opinion: Induced Seismicity in the Extraction of Hydrocarbons from Unconventional Reservoirs [Baisch, S./Vörös, R./Carstens, P./Koch, C./Stang, H./Rothert, E. (Auth.)], Berlin 2021.

10 Denneborg et al. 2021

Expert Commission on Fracking: Document: Environmental Impacts of Fracking in Hydrocarbon Exploration and Production from Unconventional reservoirs: Monitoring Concepts for Groundwater and Surface Water [Denneborg, M./Feseker, T./Müller, F. (Auth.)], Berlin 2021.

11 Hayes 2019

Hayes, T.: "Sampling and analysis of water streams associated with the development of Marcellus Shale Gas". In: *Final Report. Marcellus Shale Coalition, Des Plaines, IL*. URL: http://www.shalenetwork.org/content/sampling-and-analysis-water-streams-associated-development-marcellus-shalegas-source-id-10 [Status: 03.04.2023].

12 Haluszczcak et al. 2013

Haluszczak, L.O./ Rose, A.W., Kump, L.R.: "Geochemical evaluation of flowback brine from Marcellus gas wells in Pennsylvania USA." In: *Appl Geochem*, 28, 2013, pp. 55-61. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeochem.2012.10.002 [Status: 16.04.2023].

13 Li et al. 2022

Li, L./Dominici, F./Blomberg, A./Bargagli-Stoffi, F./Schwartz, J. D./Coull, B. A./Spengler, J. D./ Wie, Y./Lawrence, J./Koutrakis, P.: "Exposure to unconventional oil and gas development and all-cause mortality in Medicare beneficiaries." In: *Nature Energy*, 7, 2022, pp. 177-185. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-021-00970-y.

14 Wollin et al. 2020

Wollin, K. M./Damm, G./Foth, H./Freyberger, A./Gebel, T./Mangerich, A./Gundert-Remy, U./Partosch, F./Röhl, C./Schupp, T./Hengstler, J.G./: "Critical evaluation of human health risks due to hydraulic fracturing in natural gas and petroleum production." In: Archives of toxicology, 94(4), 2020, pp. 967– 1016. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-020-02758-7.

15 IOGP 2014

- International Association of Oil & Gas: Shale Gas & Hydraulic Fracturing – Ensuring a safe, clean, secure & competitive energy source for Europe, 2014. URL:
 - https://www.iogp.org/wp-content/up-
 - loads/2016/10/v2_Shale_FAQs_1.2_high.pdf [Status: 03.04.2023].

16 Raimi 2020

Raimi, D. (2020): "Comment on The intensification of the water footprint of hydraulic fracturing".
In: Science advances 6 (8), eaav2110.
URL: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sciadv.aav2110 [Status: 18.04.2023].

17 Kondash and Vengosh 2015

Kondash, A. and Vengosh, A.: "Water Footprint of Hydraulic Fracturing". In: *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 2(10), 2015, pp. 276–280. DOI: 10.1021/acs.estlett.5b00211.

18 Kondash et al.2018

Kondash, A. J./Lauer, N. E. and Vengosh, A.: "The intensification of the water footprint of hydraulic fracturing." In: *Science advances*, 4 (8), 2018, ear5982. URL:https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sciadv.aar5982 [Status: 18.04.2023].

19 UBA 2022

Federal Environment Agency: *Indicator: Use of water resources*, 2022. URL: https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/daten/umweltindikatoren/indikator-nutzung-der-wasserressourcen#die-wichtigsten-fakten [Status: 03.04.2023].

20 Kahnt et al. 2020

- Expert Commission on Fracking [ed.]: Expert opinion: Environmental Impacts of Fracking in the Exploration and Extraction of Hydrocarbons from Unconventional Reservoirs Methane Emissions and Scenarios. [Abbenseth, A./Aubel, T./Demmler, V./Helbig, M./Kahnt, R./Martin, M./ Mayer, R./Pinka, J.], 2020. URL: https://expkom-fracking-whg.de/lw_resource/datapool/systemfiles/elements/files/BB5BFF920205486DE0537E695E8681F3/live/d
 - ocument/2021_AB_Umweltauswirkungen_Fracking.pdf [Status: 03.04.2023].

21 BGR 2020

Federal Institute for Geosciences and Natural Resources (BGR): Carbon footprint of natural gas Literature study on the climate relevance of methane emissions from natural gas extraction as well as liquefied natural gas and pipeline transport to Germany, 2020. URL:

https://www.bgr.bund.de/DE/Themen/Energie/Down-loads/bgr_literaturstudie_methanemissio-

nen_2020.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=2 [Status: 03.04.2023].

22 DVGW 2020

DVGW Deutscher Verein des Gas- und Wasserfaches e. V. (DVGW): Methane Emissions from Natural Gas Infrastructure – Gas Industry Data Facts and Initiatives, 2020. URL: https://www.dvgw.de/medien/dvgw/leistungen/publikationen/methanemissionen-erdgas-zahlen-fakten-dvgw.pdf [Status: 10.05.2023].

23 Fraunhofer IEG et al. 2022

Ragwitz, M./Müller-Kirchenbauer, J./Klaassen, B./Graf, M./Herrmann, U./Nolden, C./Evers, M./Akça, O./Jiang, D./Hurtig, K.: *European Security of Gas Supply against the Backdrop of a Disrupted Supply from Russia*. Berlin, 2022:
Fraunhofer IEG & SCAI, TU Berlin, on behalf of the Academy's Project "Energy Systems of the Future" (ESYS). URL: https://www.ieg.fraunhofer.de/content/dam/ieg/deutsch/dokumente/pressemitteilungen/Gutachten_Gasversorgungssicherheit_bei_unterbrochener_Versorgung_aus_Russland__Fraunhofer_TUBerlin__14072022.pdf [Status: 04.04.2023].

24 IEA 2022

International Energy Agency: *How to Avoid Gas Shortages in the European Union in 2023 – A practical set of actions to close a potential supply-demand gap*, 2022. URL: https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/96ce64c5-1061-4eoc-998d-fd679990653b/HowtoAvoidGasShortagesintheEuropeanUnionin2023.pdf [Status: 03.04.2022].

25 Ariadne 2022

Copernicus Project Ariadne [ed.]: Germany on the way out of the gas crisis: How climate protection and energy sovereignty can be combined. [Luderer, G./Bartels, F./Blesl, M./Burkhardt, A./Edenhofer, O./Fahl, U./Gillich, A./Herbst, A./Hufendiek, K./Kaiser, M./Kittel, L./Koller, F./Kost, C./Pietzcker, R./Rehfeldt, M./Schreyer, F./Seibert, D./Sievers, L.], 2022. URL: https://doi.org/10.48485/pik.2022.004 [Status: 18.04.2023].

26 Kopp et al. 2022

Kopp, J./Moritz, M./Scharf, H./Schmidt, J.: "Structural change in the gas industry - What does the development of gas and hydrogen demand mean for future infrastructure? A meta-analysis of existing energy system studies. "In: *Zeitschrift für Energiewirtschaft*, 4/2022, pages not specified URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12398-022-00335-2 [Status: 04.04.2023].

27 IEEFA 2023

Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis: *Global LNG Outlook 2023-7 – High Prices Create New Risks to Demand Growth*, 2023.URL: https://ieefa.org/resources/global-lngoutlook-2023-27 [Status:04.04.2023].

28 dena 2021

German Energy Agency: dena lead study on the move to climate neutrality, 2021.

URL: https://www.dena.de/newsroom/publikationsdetailansicht/pub/abschlussbericht-dena-leitstudie-aufbruchklimaneutralitaet/ [Status: 04.04.2023].

29 ARD 2022

ARD & BR24: *Gas crisis: What we can do,* Podcast "Three times better", 2022. URL: https://www.ardaudiothek.de/episode/dreimal-besser/gas-krise-was-wir-tunkoennen/br24/10656643/ [Status: 04.04.2023].

30 EMI 2019

Energy Economics Institute at the University of Cologne gGmbH (EWI): Energy market scenarios and future energy and

 $raw\ material\ sourcing\ options,\ 2019.$

URL: https://www.ewi.uni-koeln.de/cms/wp-content/up-

loads/2019/05/Studie_Energiemarktszenarien-und-

Rohstoffbeschaffungsoptionen_190523.pdf [Status: 04.04.2023].

31 EMI 2022

Energy Economics Institute at the University of Cologne gGmbH (EWI): Scenarios for the price development of energy sources - final report. 2022. URL: https://www.ewi.uni-koeln.de/cms/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/EWI-Studie_Preisentwicklung-von-Energietraegern_220714.pdf [Status: 04.04.2023]

32 Riedel et al. 2017

Riedel, T./Schubert, D./Hauser, P./Schmidt, M.: "Analysis of the Potential Economic Viability of Shale Gas Resources in Europe". In: *Zeitschrift für Energiewirtschaft*, 41(2), 2017, pp. 1– 16. URL: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12398-017-0210-2 [Status: 16.04.2023]. **Recommended citation**

Gierds, Jörn/Stephanos, Cyril/Erlach, Berit/Fischedick, Manfred/Henning, Hans-Martin/Matthies, Ellen/Pittel, Karen/Renn, Jürgen/Sauer, Dirk Uwe/Spiecker named Döhmann, Indra: "Fracking: an option for Germany? Opportunities, Risks and Uncertainties of Fracking in unconventional reservoirs" (Discussion Paper), Series on "Energy Systems of the Future" (ESYS), 2024, DOI: https://doi.org/10.48669/esys_2024-2.

Authors

Jörn Gierds (ESYS Project Office | acatech), Dr. Cyril Stephanos (ESYS Project Office | acatech), Dr. Berit Erlach (ESYS Project Office | acatech), Prof. Dr.-Ing. Manfred Fischedick (Wuppertal Institute for Climate, Environment, Energy GmbH), Prof. Dr. Hans-Martin Henning (Fraunhofer Institute for Solar Energy Systems ISE), Prof. Dr. Ellen Matthies (Otto-von-Guericke University Magdeburg), Prof. Dr. Karen Pittel (ifo Institute), Prof. Dr. Jürgen Renn (Max Planck Institute for the History of Science), Prof. Dr. Dirk Uwe Sauer (RWTH Aachen University), Prof. Dr. Indra Spiecker called Döhmann (Goethe University Frankfurt)

Additional contributors

Sonja Dehlwes (ESYS Project Office | acatech), Anja Lapac (ESYS Project Office | acatech), Annika Seiler (ESYS Project Office | acatech)

Series editor

acatech – National Academy of Science and Engineering (lead institution) Munich Project Office, Karolinenplatz 4, 80333 Munich | www.acatech.de

German National Academy of Sciences Leopoldina Jägerberg 1, 06108 Halle (Saale) | www.leopoldina.org

Union of the German Academies of Sciences and Humanities Geschwister-Scholl-Straße 2, 55131 Mainz | www.akademienunion.de

https://doi.org/10.48669/esys 2024-2

Project duration

03/2016 to 06/2024

Funding

DOI

This project is funded by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (funding code 03EDZ2016).

SPONSORED BY THE



Federal Ministry of Education and Research

The Academies' Project "Energy Systems of the Future"

In the initiative "Energy Systems of the Future" (ESYS), acatech – National Academy of Science and Engineering, the German National Academy of Sciences Leopoldina and the Union of the German Academies of Sciences and Humanities provide input for the debate on the challenges and opportunities of the German energy transition. Within the Academies' Project, over 160 experts from the science and research communities come together in interdisciplinary working groups to develop policy options for the implementation of a secure, affordable and sustainable energy supply.

Contact:

Dr. Cyril Stephanos Head of Project Office "Energy Systems of the Future" Georgenstraße 25, 10117 Berlin phone: +49 30 206 30 96 - 0 e-mail: stephanos@acatech.de web: energiesysteme-zukunft.de/en

The German National Academy of Sciences Leopoldina, acatech – National Academy of Science and Engineering, and the Union of the German Academies of Sciences and Humanities provide policymakers and society with independent, science-based advice on issues of crucial importance for our future. The Academies' members and other experts are outstanding researchers from Germany and abroad. Working in interdisciplinary working groups, they draft statements that are published in the series of papers *Schriftenreihe zur wissenschaftsbasierten Politikberatung* (Series on Science-Based Policy Advice) after being externally reviewed and subsequently approved by the Standing Committee of the German National Academy of Sciences Leopoldina.

German National Academy of Sciences Leopoldina Jägerberg 1 06108 Halle (Saale) phone: +49 (0) 345 47239-600 fax: +49 (0)345 47239-919 e-mail: leopoldina@leopoldina.org

Berlin Office: Reinhardtstraße 14 10117 Berlin acatech – National Academy of Science and Engineering Karolinenplatz 4 80333 München phone: +49 (0) 89 520309-0 fax: +49 (0) 89 520309-9 e-mail: info@acatech.de

Berlin Office: Georgenstraße 25 10117 Berlin Union of the German Academies of Sciences and Humanities Geschwister-Scholl-Straße 2 55131 Mainz phone: +49 (0) 6131 218528-10 fax: +49 (0) 6131 218528-11 e-mail: info@akademienunion.de

Berlin Office: Jägerstraße 22/23 10117 Berlin